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IN THE MATTER OF

PHONE PROGRAMS, INC.

CONSENT ORDER, ETC., IN REGARD TO ALLEGED VIOLATION OF
SEC. 5 OF THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ACT

Docket 9247. Complaint, May 7, 1991--Decision, December 10, 1992

This consent order prohibits, among other things, a New York corporation from
misrepresenting the ease with which a premium is obtainable and the content
of any telephone information service message to children aged twelve and
under. In addition, the respondent is required to include a clear statement at
the beginning of each children's message giving the child a chance to hang up
without charge, and is required to provide a means for parents to prevent, or
not be charged for, unauthorized calls by their children.

Appearances

For the Commission: Richard L. Cleland, Joel Winston, and
Robert C. Cheek.

For the respondent: Eric L. Chase, Hannock Weisman, Roseland,
N.J.

COMPLAINT

The Federal Trade Commission, having reason to believe that
Phone Programs Incorporated, a corporation, has violated the
provisions of the Federal Trade Commission Act, and it appearing to
the Commission that a proceeding by it in respect thereof would be
in the public interest, alleges:

PARAGRAPH 1. Respondent Phone Programs Incorporated is
a New York corporation with its office and principal place of
business located at 919 Third Avenue, New York, New York.

PAR. 2. Respondent has advertised, offered for sale and has sold
information services to consumers, including children. Accessed by
the telephone through a "900" number exchange, respondent's
information services for children ordinarily consist of recorded
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stories featuring animated or fictional characters (such as Popeye and
P.J. Funny Bunny) along with recorded promotional messages.
Advertisements designed to induce consumers to purchase these
services have been broadcast on television across state lines.

PAR. 3. As alleged in this complaint, the acts and practices of the
respondent have been in or affecting commerce, as "commerce" is
defined in Section 4 of the Federal Trade Commission Act.

PAR. 4. Respondent has disseminated, or has caused to be
disseminated, advertisements and telephone messages for various
information services for children. Typical of respondent's advertise-
ments and telephone messages, but not necessarily all-inclusive
thereof, are the advertisements and telephone messages attached
hereto as Exhibits A through D. Specifically, the aforesaid contain
the following statements and depictions:

1. "Plus, every bunny that calls will receive a special Funny Bunny present!"
(Audio, Complaint Exhibit A)

2. "Plus every caller gets a special gift." (Audio) "Every Caller Gets a Gift."
(Video) (Complaint Exhibit B)

3. “"Call now and celebrate Popeye's birthday." (Audio) (Complaint Exhibit B)

4. "It's Popeye's birthday, but you get the present." (Audio). [Video depicts a
large birthday cake with Popeye and his friends seated on the cake] (Complaint
Exhibit B)

5. "And wuld youse like to call again tomorra fer some more surpriskes -- and
some news about a special boithday party?" [telephone message] (Complaint Exhibit
O

6. "AndT'll be in da soup, boys and goils, if you don't comes back tomorra -- fer
some news about me comin' boithday party -- and anudder story"” [telephone message]
(Complaint Exhibit C)

PAR. 5. Through the use of the statements and depictions
contained in the attached advertisements and in others not
specifically set forth herein, respondent has represented, directly or
by implication, that children who complete a call to respondent's
information service will readily and easily obtain the premium
specified in the advertisement.

PAR. 6. In truth and in fact children who complete a call to
respondent's information service will not readily and easily obtain the
premium specified in the advertisement, because the child must: (1)
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complete a call to the information service; (2) record an address,
given once at the end of the recorded message announcement, to
which a request must be sent to the item; (3) obtain a copy of the
telephone bill which contains the call to the information service; and
(4) send a copy of the bill to the respondent at the proper address.
This ordering information is given in a rapid and difficult to follow
manner during the course of the recorded message.

Therefore, the representation set forth in paragraph five was, and
is, false and misleading.

PAR. 7. Through the combined use of the statements and
depictions contained in the attached advertisements and telephone
messages and in others not specifically set forth herein, respondent
has represented, directly or by implication, that children who call the
"Popeye" information service will in most cases hear information
about Popeye's birthday.

PAR. 8. In truth and in fact, children who call the "Popeye"
information service will not in most cases hear information about
Popeye's birthday, because only one of the 29 episodes in the series
of "Popeye" messages contained information about Popeye's birth-
day. Therefore, the representation set forth in paragraph seven was,
and is, false and misleading.

PAR. 9. In its advertising for its information services for
children, respondent has represented, directly or by implication, that
children could easily obtain a premium by making a call to the
information service. Said advertisements failed to disclose that there
are material terms and conditions for obtaining the premium,
including but not limited to, the need for a writing implement to
transcribe the ordering information. These terms and conditions
would be material to the caller in deciding whether to purchase the
service. Respondent's failure to disclose these terms and conditions
was, and is, a deceptive practice.

PAR. 10. In the course of advertising, promoting, and selling its
information services for children, respondent has induced children to
call its story service and thereby incur charges, without providing any
reasonable means for persons responsible for payment of these
charges to exercise control over the transaction. This practice has
caused such persons to pay these charges. Respondent's conduct as
set forth above has caused substantial injury to consumers that is not
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outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers or competi-
tion and is not reasonably avoidable by consumers. This conduct
was, and is, an unfair act or practice.

PAR. 11. The acts and practices of the respondent as alleged in
this complaint constitute unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or
affecting commerce in violation of Section 5(a) of the Federal Trade
Commission Act.
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EXHIBIT A
PRODUCT: P.J. FUNNY BUNNY PHONE LINE
vIoEg "'°“é§“"‘° LENGTH: :30 STATION: WNYW
M OF AMERICA, INC. MARKET: NEW YORK
V S 330 WEST 42ND STREET, DATE: 03/22/89 TIME: 2:00 PM
NEW YORK. NEW YORK 10036 PROGRAM: BEWITCHED .
(2121 736-2010 CODE #:  0389-3221 Complaint Exhi
A ‘m A

(BKG MUSIC) and I've got exciting news for
Pr.‘J"FUNNY BUNNY: Hey, boys and you! Dial this number now,
giris!

and my friends and | will tell you
all about our terrificaity

" TT=

-

will receive a special Funny Bunny So join us on our magically fun and become a part of the Funny Bunn:
present’ adventures, family, too! Don't wait! Call now!

We're hoppin’ to hear from you! FEMALE ANNCR: $2.00 for first Children, get your parents’
(GIGGLES) minute, 45 cents each additional permission before you dial.
minute. (MUSIC ENDS)

NEW YORK * LOS ANGELES « CHICAGO - PHILADELPHAA « SAN FRANCISCO - BOSTON - DALLAS * « WASHINGTON « MOUSTON - MIAMI + DENVER - KARTFORD - SAN DIEG!

Matenai supphed by erno Mornitoring semcas of Amenca. Inc may be usad for internal review. analysis or ressarcn
RumanAR e Rrmgzeast M DyBiC CiSDIBY O Sroft s fortidgen
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EXHIBIT B

“POPEYE”

Phone Programs, Inc.

Audio

Popeye: Shiver me timbers, boys

and girls. I gots a secret to tell you.
I gots a brand new phone line story.

Me, Popeye. And all me buddies,
of course. A goi, goi, goi.

Olive Qil: Oh, Popeye.

Man with club: Yeah, boys and
girls. Call now, and I'll tell you
about our adventures. Plus, every
caller gets a special gift.

Olive Oil: That’s right. It’s
Popeye’s birthday, but you get the
present. Oh, I'm so excited.

Voice: Remember, kids. Call
now and celebrate Popeye’s
birthday.

Popeye: That’s right, boys and
girls. We’re waiting to hear from
you.

Other voice: $2 the first minute.
45 cents each additional minute.

Children, get your parents’ permission

before you dial.

Video

Call Popeye Now!
1-900-909-4 POP

Every Caller Gets a Gift.
Call Popeye Now
1-900-909-4 POP

Call Popeye Now
1-900-909-4 POP

Call Popeye Now
1-900-909-4 POP

$2 the first minute.

45 cents each additional
minute.

By 900 U.S.
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EXHIBIT C

“POPEYE” #1 “NO TRAPEZE, PLEASE!” 1:50 LIONEL WIL.SON

MUSIC: (POPEYE THEME)

POPEYE: Shiver me timbers, boys and goils, it’s your old friend, Popeye
the sailor -- wit’ lots 0’ new stories and surpriskes -- like the time
I takes me goil Olive to the coicus ... (MUSIC: CIRCUS
MUSIC)

OLIVE: Oh, joy of joys, Popeye! The show’s starting!

RINGMASTER: (AFTER SFX: FANFARE) And on the flying trapeze -- the one
and only -- BLUTO, THE BIRDMAN! ...

POPEYE: Me peepers is deceivin’ me! It’s that swab, Bluto!

OLIVE: Popeye! He’s swinging right towards US!

SEX: (SLIDE WHISTLE AS TRAPEZE APPROACHES)

BLUTO: Hiya, Olive cutie! How about a ride on my trapeze?

OLIVE: Scram, you rude dude! I'm with my financee!

POPEYE: Swing elsekwhere before I decks you wit’ my fisks!

BLUTO: Oh, yeah! TAKE THAT! ...

SFX: (POW! ... POPEYE RIPS THROUGH THE CANVAS)

OLIVE: Oh, how desplicable! You’ve knocked Popeye out of the tent!

BLUTO: Let’s fly, Baby-doll! Up and away!

OLIVE: HELP! HELP! ... (FADES) POPEYE! ...

POPEYE: What am I doin’ here - at the refreshkment stand?

VENDOR: Hot dogs! Spinach pie! ...

POPEYE: SPINACH PIE? Gimme three! ... (MUSIC: POPEYE THEME)
Now I makes mincemeat outta dat flyin’ fink! ... Hey! He’s got
Olive two-hundred feets in de air!

OLIVE: (AT DISTANCE) HELP! ...

POPEYE: He’s comin’ at me again! (SFX: TRAPEZE APPROACHES)

BLUTO: I thought I got rid o’ you!

POPEYE: 1t’ought one good toin desoives anudder!

SEX: (EXPLOSION AS POPEYE’S FIST CONNECTS)

OLIVE: Popeye! He landed in that cannon! (SEX: CANNON SHOT)
Now he’s flyin’ through the top of the tent!

POPEYE TENT nuthin’ at all! Ca-ca-ca! Would youse like ta swing wit’
me, Miss Oyl?

OLIVE: My daring young man on the flying trapeze!

POPEYE And wuld YOUSE like to call again tomorra fer some more

surpriskes -- and some news about a special boithday party? ...
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EXHIBIT D

“POPEYE” #2 “COUNT TEN, MEN!" 1:50 LIONEL WILSON

MUSIC: (POPEYE THEME)

POPEYE: Avast, Mateys! Popeye da two-fisted sailor here and I’m glad
youse called -- ‘cause I wanna tell you dat fisticuffing just ain’t
genteel. And dat’s what I told me little nephews when I takes
dem to dinner in a restaurank ... (MUSIC -- OUT) ... So
remember, fellers -- ALWAYS COUNTS TEN BEFORE USIN’
YOUR FISKS! ...

POOPEYE: Yes, Unca Popeye ...

PIPEYE: Here’s the waiter, Unca Popeye!

POPEYE: HEY! Dat’s no waiter! Dat’s BLUTO!

BLUTO: Welcome to Bluto’s Beanery! Whaddaya want fer starters,
bowlegs? Some ice cold potato soup? (SEX SPLASH!) Ooops!
It slipped! (LAUGHS)

POPEYE: Hey! I wants to slurp me soup -- not WEAR it!

PEEPEYE: Uh-UH! Count ten, Unca Popeye!

POPEYE: One - two - three ...

BLUTO: How about a couple o’ hard-boiled eggs? Here! I'll crack ‘em
for ya! (SEX: EGGS CRACK ON POPEYE’'S HEAD)

POPEYE: Oh, me delicate dome!

PUPEYE: Count ten, Unca Popeye!

POPEYE: ... four - five - six ...

BLUTO: How about a nice fresh LOBSTER? It’s so fresh, it’s still
ALIVE! ... (LAUGHS - SFX: LOBSTER SNAPS CLAW!)

POPEYE: He-e-e-ey! Dat’s my nose!

POOPEYE: Count ten, Unca Popeye!

POPEYE: ... seven - eight - nine ...

BLUTO: And here’s a nice bowl of GREEN salad! ... OOPS! Now
wasn’t dat clumsy o’ me? (LAUGHS) I guess dey’ll all be
callin’ ya SPINACH-HEAD!

POPEYE: Did I hear dat name what’s muskic to my ears? SPINACH?

MUSIC: (POPEYE'’S THEME)

PIPEYE: Count ten, Unca Popeye!

POPEYE: TEN!!! (SEX: “SPLAT” AS POPEYE SOCKS BLUTO --
THEN SOUND OF BLUTO CRASHING INTO TABLE
NEARBY)

PUPEYE: Gee, Unca Popeye -- looka Bluto! He’s layin’ on dat table over
dere covered with gravy!

POPEYE: Ya might say Bluto’s in a STEW! Ca-ca-ca! ... And I'LL be in

da SOUP, boys and goils, if you don’t comes back tomorra -- fer
some news about me comin’ boithday party -- and anudder
story ...
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DECISION AND ORDER

The Commission having heretofore issued its complaint charging
the respondent named in the caption hereof with violation of Section
5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended, and the
respondent having been served with a copy of that complaint,
together with a notice of contemplated relief; and

The respondent, its attorney, and counsel for the Commission
having thereafter executed an agreement containing a consent order,
an admission by respondent of all the jurisdictional facts set forth in
the complaint, a statement that the signing of said agreement is for
settlement purposes only and does not constitute an admission by
respondent that the law has been violated as alleged in such
complaint, and waivers and other provisions as required by the
Commission's Rules; and

The Secretary having thereafter withdrawn this matter from
adjudication in accordance with Section 3.25(c) of its Rules; and

The Commission having considered the matter and having
thereupon accepted the executed consent agreement and placed such
agreement on the public record for a period of sixty (60) days, now
in further conformity with the procedure prescribed in Section 3.25(f)
of its Rules, the Commission hereby makes the following juris-
dictional findings and enters the following order:

1. Respondent Phone Programs, Inc. is a corporation organized,
existing and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the
State of New York, with its office and principal place of business
located at 919 Third Avenue, New York, New York.

2. The Federal Trade Commission has jurisdiction of the subject
matter of this proceeding and of the respondent, and the proceeding
is in the public interest.

ORDER

For purposes of this order, the term "children" or "child" shall
mean a person of age twelve or under.

For purposes of this order, the term "information service for
children" shall mean a telephone message accessed through a num-
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bered exchange (e.g., "900") for which a fee is charged, consisting of
live or recorded statements promoted or sold primarily to children.

For purposes of this order, the term "premium" shall mean any
item respondent offers to send to those who call its information
service for children.

For purposes of this order, the term "information service
message" shall mean any live or recorded story, program or other
communication transmitted to callers of respondent's information
service for children.

For purposes of this order, the term "video advertisement" shall
mean any advertisement intended for dissemination on television
broadcast, cablecast, home video, or theatrical release.

For purposes of this order, the term "affiliate" includes, but is not
limited to, corporations with a majority of shareholders or directors
in common with respondent.

It is ordered, That respondent Phone Programs Incorporated, a
corporation, its successors, assigns, and affiliates, and its officers,
agents, representatives, and employees, directly or through any
corporation, subsidiary, division or other device, in connection with
the advertising, promotion, offering for sale, sale or transmission of
any information service for children in or affecting commerce, as
"commerce" is defined in the Federal Trade Commission Act, do
forthwith cease and desist from misrepresenting, directly or by
implication:

A. The ease with which a premium is obtainable; and
B. The content of any information service message for children.

II.

It is further ordered, That respondent Phone Programs Incorpo-
rated, its successors, assigns, and affiliates, and its officers, agents,
representatives and employees, directly or through any corporation,
subsidiary, division or other device, in connection with the
advertising, promotion, offering for sale, sale or transmission of any
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information service for children in or affecting commerce, as
"commerce" is defined in the Federal Trade Commission Act, do
forthwith cease and desist from failing as specified below to disclose,
clearly and prominently, whenever an offer of any premium is made,
all the material terms, conditions and obligations upon which receipt
and retention of the premium is contingent. Such terms, conditions,
and obligations shall include, but not be limited to, the number of
calls necessary to receive the premium, if more than one, and the
need to have a writing implement and paper available to record the
necessary information given during the information service message.

The disclosure shall be made in a manner understandable to
children, and shall be made in the same medium in which the offer of
the premium is made and, in addition, in any information service
message.

III.

1t is further ordered, That respondent Phone Programs Incorpo-
rated, its successors, assigns, and affiliates, and its officers, agents,
representatives and employees, directly or through any corporation,
subsidiary, division or other device, do forthwith cease and desist
from disseminating or causing to be disseminated any advertisement
in any medium for an information service for children that does not
include the following statement:

"KIDS, YOU MUST ASK YOUR MOM OR DAD AND GET THEIR
PERMISSION BEFORE YOU CALL. THIS CALL COSTS MONEY."

The above required disclosure shall be presented in a manner
designed to ensure clarity and prominence. If the disclosure is made
in the manner described below, it will be considered as complying
with this provision of the order.

A. In any video advertisement, the disclosure shall be presented
simultaneously in both the audio and video portions of the advertise-
ment. The disclosure shall appear immediately following the first
video presentation of the "900" telephone number, but in any event
shall begin within the first fifteen (15) seconds of the advertisement.
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The audio portion shall be presented in a slow and deliberate manner.
Each line of the video portion shall be at least as large as one-half of
the size of the largest presentation of the "900" number that appears
on the screen during the advertisement, shall be of a color or shade
that readily contrasts with the background, and shall appear on the
screen for the duration of the audio disclosure.

B. In any print advertisement, the disclosure shall be parallel to
the base of the advertisement and shall be placed in close proximity
to the 900 number. All lines of the disclosure when taken together
shall be the same size or larger than the largest presentation of the
900 number, but in any event the type size of each line of the
disclosure shall be no less than 12 point, bold-face type.

C. In any radio advertisement, the disclosure shall be presented
in a slow and deliberate manner and shall appear immediately
following the first presentation of the "900" telephone number, but in
any event it shall begin within the first fifteen (15) seconds of the
advertisement.

Nothing contrary to, inconsistent with, or in mitigation of the
above required statement shall be used in any advertisement in any
medium.

IV.

It is further ordered, That respondent Phone Programs Incorpo-
rated, its successors, assigns, and affiliates, and its officers, agents,
representatives and employees, directly or through any corporation,
subsidiary, division or other device, do forthwith cease and desist
from disseminating or causing to be disseminated any advertisement
in any medium for an information service for children that does not
include a disclosure of the cost of a call to the information service.
This disclosure shall be presented in a manner designed to ensure
clarity and prominence. In any video advertisement, the disclosure
shall be presented simultaneously in both the audio and video
portions of the advertisement.
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V.

1t is further ordered, That respondent Phone Programs Incorpo-
rated, its successors, assigns, and affiliates, and its officers, agents,
representatives and employees, directly or through any corporation,
subsidiary, division or other device, shall include, at the beginning of
every information service message, an introductory preamble that
states in a slow, deliberate and clear manner the following:

"THIS TELEPHONE CALL COSTS MONEY. IF YOU DO NOT HAVE
YOUR MOM OR DAD'S PERMISSION, HANG UP NOW AND THERE
WILL BE NO CHARGE FOR THIS CALL."

VI

It is further ordered, That respondent Phone Programs Incorpo-
rated, its successors, assigns, and affiliates, and its officers, agents,
representatives and employees, directly or through any corporation,
subsidiary, division or other device, do forthwith cease and desist
from billing or causing to be billed, or collecting any funds or
causing any funds to be collected, for any call to any information
service for children terminated within no less than five (5) seconds
of the end of the introductory preamble, as required by paragraph V
of this order.

Provided, in the event that any provision of a federal law or
regulation of the Federal Communications Commission is in "actual
conflict" with any requirement imposed by paragraphs V or VI of this
order, compliance with such law or regulation shall not be deemed to
be a violation of this order. As used herein, "actual conflict" shall
mean that it is impossible for respondent to comply with both the law
or regulation and paragraphs V and VI of this order.

VII.

It is further ordered, That respondent Phone Programs Incorpo-
rated, its successors, assigns, and affiliates, and its officers, agents,
representatives and employees, directly or through any corporation,
subsidiary, division or other device, do forthwith cease and desist
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from inducing children to call its information service for children and
thereby incur charges, without providing any reasonable means for
the person responsible for payment of such charges to exercise
control over the transaction. For purposes of this paragraph, if the
respondent does not provide, prior to placement of any call by a
child, a reasonable means for the person responsible for payment to
avoid unauthorized calls, the provision of a reasonable means to
exercise control over the transaction shall be the use of the
respondent's best efforts to ensure that one-time refunds or credits are
provided upon request for unauthorized calls made by children, as
specified below. Best efforts shall include at least the following:

A. Contracting with the appropriate interstate common carrier or
local exchange carrier to:

(1) Identify in all telephone bills containing charges for calls to
respondent's information service for children each telephone call to
such service by the characters "CHILD CALL";

(2) Place in all telephone bills containing charges for calls to
respondent's information service for children, clearly and prominently
in close proximity to the itemization of those charges, a toll-free or
local telephone number specified to be used for consumer inquiries
concerning charges on the telephone bill; provided, that a general
billing inquiry telephone number for customer inquiries concerning
charges on the telephone bill shall satisfy this requirement;

(3) Refer all customers who call the toll-free number inquiring
about the charges for respondent's information service for children to
their local exchange carrier for information regarding the availability
of blocking in their jurisdiction; and

(4) Provide a one-time prompt and full credit or refund at the
customer's request for all such calls, whether such request is made to
the toll-free or local telephone number specified herein or in any
other manner; provided, that respondent must contract with the
carrier to provide a second prompt and full credit or refund to any
customer who requests the first credit or refund during a period of the
billing cycle where unauthorized calls have been made, but do not yet
appear on the customer's bill, and subsequently requests a second
credit or refund for any additional unauthorized calls made before the
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date of the first request for a credit or refund; provided, that if the
interstate common carrier utilized by respondent employs local
exchange carriers to provide billing inquiry services, respondent shall
be in compliance with subparagraphs A(3) and (4) of this paragraph
if its contract with the interstate common carrier provides that the
interstate common carrier notify each local exchange carrier of the
interstate common carrier's policies to:

(1) Provide the customer with information regarding the avail-
ability of blocking 900 number calls; and

(i) Provide upon request one-time refunds or credits for
unauthorized calls by children, as provided in subparagraph A(4) of
this paragraph.

B. In the event that respondent receives any information that the
interstate common carrier has failed to fulfill its obligations under the
contract required by subparagraph A of this paragraph, immediately
notifying the interstate common carrier:

(1) Of the existence of the alleged failure(s);

(2) Of the carrier's responsibility to fulfill its obligations under
the contract;

(3) Of the need to investigate and correct all past failures; and

(4) That if a pattern or practice of failures continues, respondent
will terminate the use of said carrier for any information service for
children; and

C. Terminating the use of said interstate common carrier for any
information service for children, in the event that the interstate
common carrier does not correct all past failures or continues to fail
to fulfill its obligations under said contract.

D. Compliance with the requirements set forth in subparagraphs
A - C of this paragraph is deemed to be satisfactory compliance with
this paragraph.

Provided, that for purposes of this paragraph, the mere inclusion
of any audio or video disclosure relating to parental authorization in
advertisements or information service messages is expressly deemed
not to be a reasonable means, prior to placement of any call by a
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child, for the person responsible for payment to avoid unauthorized
calls.

VIIL

It is further ordered, That for three (3) years from the date of
service of this order, respondent shall maintain and upon request
make available to the Federal Trade Commission for inspection and
copying: (1) all advertisements for information services for children
and all corresponding information service messages; (2) a record of
all credit or refund requests made for charges billed for respondent's
information services for children; (3) all documents relating to
compliance with paragraph VII of this order; and (4) all consumer
complaints and dispositions thereof relating to respondent's
information services for children.

IX.

It is further ordered, That respondent shall notify the Commission
at least thirty (30) days prior to any proposed change in the
corporation such as dissolution, assignment or sale resulting in the
emergence of a successor corporation or corporations, the creation or
dissolution of subsidiaries or any other change in the corporation
which may affect compliance obligations arising out of this order.

X.

It is further ordered, That respondent shall forthwith distribute a
copy of this order to each of its operating divisions and any carrier(s)
or other entities providing billing and/or collection service for its
information services for children.

XI.

It is further ordered, That respondent shall, within sixty (60) days
after service of this order and at such other times as the Commission
may require, file with the Commission a report, in writing, setting
forth in detail the manner and form in which it has complied with this
order.
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IN THE MATTER OF

AMERICAN PSYCHOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION

CONSENT ORDER, ETC., IN REGARD TO ALLEGED VIOLATION
OF SEC. 5 OF THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ACT

Docket C-3406. Complaint, Dec. 16, 1992--Decision, Dec. 16, 1992

This consent order prohibits, among other things, a Washington, D.C. association
from restricting the dissemination of truthful, non-deceptive information by its
members. In addition, the respondent is prohibited from banning payments by
psychologists to patient-referral services. Finally, the respondent must cease
its affiliation with any state, regional or other psychological association that
imposes similar restrictions.

Appearances

For the Commission: Elizabeth R. Hilder.
For the respondent: Arthur N. Lerner, Michaels & Wishner,
Washington, D.C.

COMPLAINT

Pursuant to the provisions of the Federal Trade Commission Act,
and by virtue of the authority vested in it by said Act, the Federal
Trade Commission, having reason to believe that the named
American Psychological Association, a corporation, hereinafter
sometimes referred to as respondent, has violated said Act, and it
appearing to the Commission that a proceeding by it in respect
thereof would be in the public interest, hereby issues its complaint,
stating its charges in that respect, as follows:

PARAGRAPH 1. Respondent American Psychological Associa-
tion is a corporation organized, existing and doing business under and
by virtue of the laws of the District of Columbia, with its offices and
principal place of business located at 1200 Seventeenth Street, N.W.,
Washington, D.C.
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PAR. 2. Respondent is a professional and scientific association
with more than 90,000 members or affiliates, who are psychologists,
persons in training as psychologists, and teachers of psychology.
Members and affiliates of respondent reside in and transact business
in all fifty of the United States and in numerous foreign countries. A
significant majority of persons licensed as psychologists in the
United States are members or affiliates of respondent and a majority
of such persons have received their professional training as psycholo-
gists in programs academically accredited by respondent. A majority
of psychologists in the United States who are not subject to licensure
requirements are members or affiliates of respondent. Respondent
has the largest membership of any professional organization of
psychologists in the United States. Respondent has as one of its
purposes advancing psychology as a profession. A significant
portion of respondent's activities furthers the pecuniary interests of
its members.

PAR. 3. By virtue of the facts alleged in paragraph two, respond-
ent is now and has at all times relevant herein been a corporation
within the meaning of Section 4 of the Federal Trade Commission
Act, 15U.S.C. 44.

PAR. 4. Many of respondent's members provide psychological
services, products, or publications for a fee. Included among these
are members who provide clinical psychological services; who en-
gage in employee evaluation, assessment, training, and management;
who engage in market research and evaluation; who engage in
psychological education and testing; and who lecture, train, and
provide publications that enable members of the general public to
help themselves in addressing various personal, career, and family
problems, difficulties, and crises. Except to the extent that competi-
tion has been restrained as herein alleged, many of respondent's
members have been and now are in competition among themselves.

PAR. 5. The acts and practices of respondent, including the acts
and practices alleged herein, have been, or are, in or affecting
commerce within the meaning of Section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. 45.

PAR. 6. In selecting psychologist providers of services, products;
and publications, prospective clients, patients, or other consumers
consider factors, such as psychologists' ability, experience, and
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competence; the utility and convenience of the offered services,
products, and publications; and price and other terms of sale.
Advertising, including the use of comparative advertisements and the
use of testimonials, can enable psychologists to inform clients,
patients, and other consumers better about such factors. Truthful and
nondeceptive advertising benefits clients, patients, and other
consumers by increasing the information available to them about the
factors they employ in selecting among psychologists and by
promoting competition among psychologists.

PAR. 7. In informing clients, patients, and other consumers of
psychological services about their services, products and publica-
tions, some psychologists use means of communication in addition
to advertising. Among these means are professional referral and
marketing services. Such referral and marketing services can benefit
clients, patients, and other consumers by offering comparative
information to them so that they may better and more easily choose
among a variety of alternative psychologists, products, and services,
reducing search costs and thereby promoting competition among
psychologists.

PAR. 8. Respondent has acted as a combination of its members
or has conspired with at least some of its members to restrain com-
petition in the sale and delivery of psychological services and the sale
and delivery of psychologists' services, products, and publications by:

A. Prohibiting its members from engaging in certain forms of
truthful, nondeceptive advertising and solicitation; and

B. Prohibiting or restricting its members' participation in patient
referral services or other similar institutions or arrangements, to the
extent their operation is financed, in whole or in part, through
individual assessments based upon business referrals made to
contracting providers by or through the institution or arrangement.

PAR. 9. Respondent has engaged in various acts and practices in
furtherance of the combination or conspiracy described in paragraph
eight above. These acts and practices include, among other things,
adopting in 1981; enforcing until at least December 1986; and, until
rescinded in June 1989, maintaining provisions in respondent's
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Ethical Principles of Psychologists, which have restrained com-
petition in the following ways, among others:

A. Prohibiting psychologists from advertising or otherwise
making any public statement "concerning the comparative desira-
bility of offered services" (Ethical Principle 4b.(vii)(1981 ed.)). This
restriction has deterred or may have deterred psychologists from
advertising a broad range of truthful claims about the merits of the
services they offer, such as significant scientific advances in certain
psychological testing and evaluation procedures.

B. Prohibiting psychologists from advertising or otherwise
making any public statement "implying unusual, unique, or one of a
kind abilities" (Ethical Principle 4b.(v)(1981 ed.)). This restriction
has deterred or may have deterred psychologists from making such
wholly accurate claims as representations that they are the only
psychologist in a particular market who provides particular evalua-
tion services, who is trained to use a new therapeutic approach or
who provides certain copyrighted testing materials.

C. Prohibiting psychologists from advertising or otherwise
making any public statement "intended or likely to appeal to a client's
fears, anxieties, or emotions concerning the possible results of failure
to obtain the offered services." (Ethical Principle 4b.(vi)(1981 ed.)).
This restriction has deterred or may have deterred psychologists from
using in advertising virtually any statement about matters of concern
to prospective clients, patients, or other consumers, such as,
statements pointing out the risks of obesity or the symptoms of
depression or alcoholism.

D. Prohibiting the use of a testimonial from a patient regarding
the "quality" of a psychologist's services or products (Ethical
Principle 4b.(iii)(1981 ed.)). This restriction, which is not limited to
solicitation of testimonials from individuals who are vulnerable to
undue influence, has deterred or may have deterred psychologists
from supporting truthful claims about their practices with statements
from patients, such as claims that accurately describe the personal
qualities of the psychologist, the convenience of the psychologist's
office hours, or the utility and perceived value of the psychologist's
practice of providing psychological therapy jointly with such other
services as dietary or vocational counseling.
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E. Prohibiting psychologists from:

1. Making "a statement of direct solicitation of individual clients"
(Ethical Principle 4b.(viii)(1981 ed.)). This restriction, which is not
limited to solicitation of individuals who are vulnerable to undue
influence, has deterred or may have deterred psychologists from
initiating one-on-one discussions with individuals about the provision
of therapeutic services or such services as market testing and
evaluation; or

2. "Offering their own services directly" to "a person receiving
similar services from another professional” (Ethical Principle
7b.(1981 ed.)). This restriction, which is not limited to offerings of
services to individuals who are vulnerable to undue influence, has
deterred or may have deterred psychologists from approaching
individuals such as parents enrolled in a social worker's seminar on
child development, and presenting to individuals information as to
the advantages that can be gained from enrolling in the psychologist's
own program apposed to remaining enrolled in the competing
seminar;

F. Forbidding psychologists from giving or receiving "any
remuneration for referring clients for professional services" (Ethical
Principle 6d.(1981 ed.)). This restriction has deterred or may have
deterred psychologists from operating or participating in such
institutions as client or patient referral services or other similar
institutions to the extent that operation of these institutions is or may
be financed, in whole or in part, through individual assessments
based upon business referrals made to contracting providers by or
through the service or institution.

PAR. 10. The purposes, effects, tendency and capacity of the
combination or conspiracy and the acts and practices described above
have been and are to restrain competition unreasonably and to injure
clients, patients, and other consumers in the following ways, among
others:

A. Hindering, restraining, foreclosing and frustrating competition
in the delivery of psychological services, and the sale of products and
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publications by psychologists, on the basis of price, service, and
quality.

B. Depriving clients, patients, and other consumers of the bene-
fits of truthful information about the availability of psychologists'
services, products, and publications; and

C. Depriving clients, patients, and other consumers of the bene-
fits of competition among psychologists in the provision of their
services, products, and publications through competing referral
services and institutional arrangements.

PAR. 11. The combination or conspiracy and the acts and prac-
tices described above constitute unfair methods of competition or
unfair acts or practices in violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. 45. The acts and practices of respondent,
as herein alleged, or the effects thereof, are continuing and will
continue or recur in the absence of appropriate relief.

DECISION AND ORDER

The Federal Trade Commission having initiated an investigation
of certain acts and practices of the respondent named in the caption
hereof, and the respondent having been furnished thereafter with a
copy of a draft of complaint that the Bureau of Competition proposed
to present to the Commission for its consideration and that, if issued
by the Commission, would charge the respondent with violation of
the Federal Trade Commission Act; and

The respondent, its attorney, and counsel for the Commission
having thereafter executed an agreement containing a consent order,
an admission by the respondent of all the jurisdictional facts set forth
in the aforesaid draft of complaint, a statement that the signing of said
agreement is for settlement purposes only and does not constitute an
admission by respondents that the law has been violated as alleged in
such complaint, and waivers and other provisions as required by the
Commission's Rules; and

The Commission having thereafter considered the matter and
having determined that it had reason to believe that the respondent
has violated the said Act, and that a complaint should issue stating its
charges in that respect, and having thereupon accepted the executed
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consent agreement and placed such agreement on the public record
for a period of sixty (60) days, now in further conformity with the
procedure prescribed in Section 2.34 of its Rules, the Commission
hereby issues its complaint, makes the following jurisdictional
findings and enters the following order:

1. Respondent American Psychological Association is a corpo-
ration organized, existing and doing business under and by virtue of
the laws of the District of Columbia, with its office and principal
place of business located at 1200 17th Street, N.-W., Washington,
D.C.

2. The Federal Trade Commission has jurisdiction of the subject
matter of this proceeding and of the respondent, and the proceeding
is in the public interest.

ORDER

For the purposes of this order:

"Respondent" means the American Psychological Association, its
directors, trustees, councils, committees, boards, divisions, officers,
representatives, delegates, agents, employees, successors, or assigns.

"Members" means the Fellows, Members, and Associates classes
of members of the American Psychological Association, and persons
that hold Affiliate status with the American Psychological
Association.

"Psychotherapy" means the therapeutic treatment of mental,
emotional, or behavioral disorders by psychological means, and
excludes programs, seminars, workshops, or consultations that
address specific limited goals, such as career planning; improving
employment skills or performance; increasing assertiveness; losing
weight, giving up smoking; or obtaining non-individualized
information about methods of coping with concerns common in
everyday life.

"Current psychotherapy patient” means a patient who has
commenced an evaluation for or a planned course of individual,
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family, or group psychotherapy, where the patient and the therapist
have not agreed to terminate the treatment. However, a person who
has not participated in psychotherapy with the psychologist for one
year shall not be deemed a current psychotherapy patient.

II.

It is ordered, That respondent, directly, indirectly, or through any
corporate or other device, in or in connection with respondent's
activities as a professional association, in or affecting commerce, as
"commerce" is defined in Section 4 of the Federal Trade Commission
Act, 15 U.S.C. 44, do forthwith cease and desist from:

A. Restricting, regulating, impeding, declaring unethical, inter-
fering with, or restraining the advertising, publishing, stating, or
disseminating by any person of the prices, terms, availability, charac-
teristics, or conditions of sale of services, products, or publications
offered for sale or made available by any psychologist, or by any
organization or institution with which a psychologist is affiliated,
through any means, including but not limited to the adoption or
maintenance of any principle, rule, guideline, or policy that restricts
any psychologist from:

1. Making public statements about the comparative desirability
of offered services, products, or publications,

2. Making public statements claiming or implying unusual,
unique, or one-of-a-kind abilities;

3. Making public statements likely to appeal to a client, patient
or other consumer's emotions, fears, or anxieties concerning the
possible results of obtaining or failing to obtain offered services,
products, or publications;

4. Presenting testimonials from clients, patients, or other con-
sumers;

5. Engaging in any direct solicitation of business from actual or
prospective clients, patients, or other consumers or offering of
services directly to a client, patient, or other consumer receiving
similar services from another professional.
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Provided that, nothing contained in this order shall prohibit
respondent from adopting and enforcing reasonable principles, rules,
guidelines, or policies governing the conduct of its members with
respect to:

1. Representations that respondent reasonably believes would be
false or deceptive within the meaning of Section 5 of the Federal
Trade Commission Act;

2. Uninvited, in-person solicitation of business from persons
who, because of their particular circumstances; are vulnerable to
undue influence; or

3. Solicitation of testimonial endorsements (including solicitation
of consent to use the person's prior statement as a testimonial
endorsement) from current psychotherapy patients, or from other
persons who, because of their particular circumstances, are vulner-
able to undue influence.

Provided further, that nothing in this order shall prohibit
respondent from adopting and enforcing editorial, scientific, peer
review, or display standards for its publications and conferences.

B. Prohibiting, restricting, regulating, impeding, declaring un-
ethical, interfering with, or restraining any of its members, or any
organization or institution with which any of its members, is
associated from giving or paying any remuneration to any patient
referral service or other similar institution for referral of clients,
patients, or other consumers for professional services.

Provided that, nothing contained in this order shall prohibit
respondent from formulating, adopting, disseminating, and enforcing
reasonable principles, rules, guidelines, or policies requiring that
disclosures be made to clients, patients, or other consumers that the
psychologist, or organization or institution with which he or she is
associated, will pay or give, or has paid or given, remuneration for
the referral of the clients, patients, or other consumers for
professional services.
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IIL.
It is further ordered, That respondent shall:

A. Cease and desist for ten (10) years from the date at which this
order becomes final, from taking any action against a person alleged
to have violated any ethical principle, rule, policy, guideline, or
standard, or taking disciplinary action on any other basis against a
person, so as to restrain or otherwise restrict advertising, solicitation
of business, or the payment of fees for the referral of clients, patients,
or other consumers for services without first providing such person,
at a minimum, with written notice of any such allegation and without
providing such person a reasonable opportunity to respond. The
notice required by this part shall, at a minimum, clearly specify the
ethical principle, rule, policy, guideline, or other basis of the
allegation and the reasons the conduct is alleged to have violated the
ethical principle, rule, policy, guideline, or standard or other
applicable criterion.

B. Maintain for five (5) years following the taking of any action
referred to in Part III. A. of this order, in one separate file, segregated
by the names of any person against whom such action was taken, and
make available to Commission staff for inspection and copying, upon
reasonable notice, all documents and correspondence that embody,
discuss, mention, refer, or relate to the action taken and all bases for
or allegations relating to it.

IV.
It is further ordered, That respondent shall:

A. Within thirty (30) days after the date this order becomes final,
remove or amend to eliminate from the respondent's Ethical
Principles, Bylaws, and any officially promulgated or authorized
guidelines or interpretations of respondent's official policies any
statement of policy that is inconsistent with Parts II and III of this
- order.

B. Within sixty (60) days after the date this order becomes final,
publish in The APA Monitor, or any successor publication that serves
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as an official journal of respondent, a copy of this order with such
prominence as is therein given to regularly published feature articles.

C. Within sixty (60) days after the date this order becomes final,
publish in The APA Monitor, or any successor publication that serves
as an official journal of respondent:

1. Notice of the removal or amendment, pursuant to this order,
of any Principle, Bylaw, guideline, interpretation, provision, or
statement, together with;

2. A copy of any such Principle, Bylaw, guideline, interpre-
tation, provision, or statement, as worded after any such amendment.

D. Within sixty (60) days after the date this order becomes final,
distribute by mail a copy of Appendix A to this order, along with a
copy of the order itself, to each of respondent's members and to each
state psychological association affiliate.

E. Cease and desist for a period of one (1) year from maintaining
or continuing respondent's affiliation with any state, regional, or other
psychological association affiliate within one hundred twenty (120)
days after respondent learns or obtains information that would lead
a reasonable person to conclude that said association has, following
the effective date of this order, maintained or enforced any
prohibition against:

1. Advertising or making public statements concerning the
comparative desirability of offered services;

2. Advertising or making any public statement representing or
implying unusual, unique, or one of a kind abilities;

3. Advertising or making any public statement intended or likely
to appeal to a client's fears, anxieties, or emotions;

4. Using a testimonial regarding the quality of a psychologist's
services or products;

5. Directly soliciting individual clients;

6. Offering services directly to persons receiving similar services
from another professional; or

7. Making payments to patient referral services;
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where maintenance or enforcement of such prohibition by the
respondent would be prohibited by Part II of this order; unless, prior
to the expiration of the one hundred twenty (120) day period, said
association informs respondent by a verified written statement of an
officer that the association has eliminated and will not reimpose such
prohibitions(s), and respondent has no grounds to believe otherwise.

V.
It is further ordered, That respondent shall:

A. Within ninety (90) days after the date this order becomes
final, and at such other times as the Commission may require by
written notice to the respondent, file with the Commission a written
report setting forth in detail the manner and form in which respondent
has complied and is complying with the order;

B. For a period of five (5) years after the date this order becomes
final, maintain and make available to Commission staff for inspection
* and copying, upon reasonable notice, records adequate to describe in
detail any action taken in connection with the activities covered by
Parts II, III, and IV of this order, including but not limited to all
documents generated by the respondent or that come into the
possession, custody, or control of respondent, regardless of the
source, that discuss refer to, or relate to any advice or interpretation
rendered with respect to advertising, solicitation, or giving or
receiving any remuneration for referring clients for professional
services, involving any of its members.

VL

It is further ordered, That respondent shall notify the Commission
at least thirty (30) days prior to any proposed change in respondent,
such as dissolution, assignment, sale resulting in the emergence of a
successor corporation or association, or any other change which may
affect compliance obligations arising out of this order.
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APPENDIX A
ANNOUNCEMENT
Dear

As you may be aware, the American Psychological Association ("APA" of
"the Association") has signed a consent agreement with the Federal Trade
Commission under which the Commission has entered a cease and desist order that
became final on [insert date]. A copy of that order is enclosed with this letter. The
order is also printed in the [insert date] issue of The APA Monitor, which may be
obtained from APA headquarters. The agreement between the Commission and the
APA is for settlement purposes. It does not constitute an admission by the
Association that it has violated any law.

Under the terms of the order, APA may not ban any of its members from
engaging in truthful, nondeceptive advertising and marketing. Specifically, the
Association may not prohibit its members from:

1. Making public statements about the comparative desirability of offered
services;

2. Making public statements implying or expressing unusual, unique, or
one-of-a-kind abilities;

3. Making public statements likely to appeal to a person's emotions, fears, or
anxieties concerning the possible results of obtaining or failing to obtain offered
services, products or publications; or

4. Presenting testimonials regarding the quality of a psychologist's services,
products, or publications; except that the Association may formulate and enforce
reasonable guidelines with respect to the solicitation of testimonials from persons
who are vulnerable to undue influence.

Under the order, Association also may not prohibit its members from making
statements of direct solicitation of individuals, including offering services directly
to persons who may be receiving similar services from other professionals.

In addition, the Association may not prohibit its members from paying any
patient referral service or similar institution for referrals, including those where the
institution's operations are funded, in whole or in part, through individual
assessments of participating psychologists that are based on the referrals that have
been made.

The order, however, provides that the Association may formulate and enforce
reasonable principles or ethical guidelines to prevent deceptive advertising and
solicitation practices. APA also may issue principles or guidelines with respect to
uninvited, in-person solicitation of business, or the solicitation of testimonials from
current psychotherapy patients, as defined in the order, or other persons who,
because of their particular circumstances, are vulnerable to undue influence by a
psychologist.
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And, under the order, APA also may issue reasonable principles or guidelines
requiring that disclosures be made to clients, patients, or other consumers regarding
fees paid by any psychologist to any patient referral service or similar institution
for referring the client, patient, or other consumer for professional services.

The Association is required, under the terms of the order, to provide any person
against whom it initiates or takes action for any alleged violation of any of the
Association's Ethical Principles, rules, or other standards that relate to advertising
and solicitation of business or to the payment of referral fees to patient referral
services or similar institutions, written notice of the specific allegations and of the
opportunity to respond to those allegations. The procedures that have been in effect
under the Rules and Procedure of the Ethics Committee of the American
Psychological Association may continue to be employed by APA in this regard.

Finally, the order requires APA to amend the Ethical Principles of
Psychologists, its Bylaws, and any guidelines or interpretations officially
promulgated or authorized by APA to delete any provisions that are in conflict with
the order and to cease its affiliation for one year with any of its state or regional
associations that engage in conduct prohibited by the order and that does not notify
APA that it has ceased, and will not repeat such conduct.

In entering into an agreement with the Association, the Federal Trade
Commission has not endorsed any principle, guideline, policy, or practice of the
Association. For more specific information, you should refer to the Federal Trade
Commission's order itself.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Sincerely,

President
American Psychological Association

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF COMMISSIONER MARY L. AZCUENAGA
CONCURRING IN PART AND DISSENTING IN PART

The Commission today accepts a consent order that bars the
American Psychological Association ("APA"), through its Ethical
Principles (code of ethics for its members), from restricting the
advertising of its members. I concur in the general prohibition of the
order. Part of the order, however, is troubling in the context of this
case and raises concerns about the Commission's general approach to
analyzing horizontal agreements and, in particular, agreements
embodied in professional codes of ethics.
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In addition to the general prohibition of restraints on advertising,
the order enumerates several specific prohibitions designed to force
the APA to repeal specific ethical principles. One in particular raises
an issue about the extent to which the Commission is willing to
substitute its judgment for the professional judgment of a psycholo-
gist. The order bars the APA from restricting its members from
advertising that is "intended or likely to appeal to a client's fears,
anxieties, or emotions concerning the possible results of failure to
obtain" psychotherapy services.' I dissent from this provision of the
order because of its potential for harm to patients and prospective
patients, given the nature of psychotherapy services.’

Appeals to the "fears, anxieties and emotions" of consumers can
be an effective form of advertising. The Commission normally
would view a broad restriction of this kind of advertising with a high
degree of skepticism. The APA rule in question is limited, but even
assuming it is inherently suspect, under Massachusetts Board of
Registration in Optometry, 110 FTC 549, 602-04 (1988), that is not
the end of the inquiry. Instead, in deciding whether a restraint on
advertising is unlawful under Section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act, it is necessary to consider the possible justifications
for the restriction. /d. at 604. Broad order prohibitions that are
appropriate in one context may not apply in the same fashion in
another context. Before banning the APA's restriction on this form
of advertising, we must consider whether the APA has legitimate
reasons for the restriction.

Here, the challenged rule restricts advertising by psychologists
that is intended to arouse consumers' fears, anxieties or other
emotions about the consequences of failing to obtain psychotherapy
services. The plausible justification for this restriction is the
professional concern about compounding the psychological problems
of vulnerable individuals and interfering with psychotherapy. An
individual who fears the consequences of failing to obtain psycho-

! The APA had such a restriction in its ethical code but repealed it in the face of
the Commission's investigation. See § IL.3 of the order and  9.C of the complaint.

2 "The therapeutic treatment of mental, emotional, or behavioral disorders by

psychological means.” Order § I.
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therapy may be less successful in psychotherapy or require a longer
course of treatment than one who has positive expectations.®> On the
record before us, I do not know that this is a valid professional
justification, but, more importantly, in deciding whether the APA's
restriction may be unlawful, I do not know that it is not.

When we are presented with a plausible justification for
restrictive conduct that involves or may involve a professional
judgment, we should substitute our judgment for that of the
professional only if we have a sound basis for doing so. The
Commission has deferred to the professional judgments of
professionals in the past, especially where quality of care has been
involved. At the very least, it has not rushed to overturn such
Jjudgments absent compelling cause. Here, the justification is
plausible, we have nothing to weigh against it and the Commission
lacks expertise concerning psychotherapy. The decision to i gnore the
plausible justification and invalidate the rule is based on a truncated
record. Everything the record contains on this point supports the
justification, and nothing, even hypothetically, suggests that the
justification is either implausible or invalid. In addition, as often
happens in cases of this nature, the respondent has substantial
financial incentives to accept the settlement rather than litigate.

The order partly concedes the validity of the APA's concerns
about engendering fears and anxieties in consumers and interfering
with the therapeutic process by permitting the APA to restrict its
members from direct solicitation of business and the solicitation of
testimonials from current psychotherapy patients and others who may
be "vulnerable to undue influence."* The same potential for harm to
vulnerable persons might have been recognized by allowing the APA
to restrict emotional appeals regarding failure to obtain psycho-

> The APA Ethical Principle at issue fully supports the justification. By its terms,
the APA's rule did not restrict emotional appeals about the benefits of obtaining
psychotherapy services but rather advertising that is intended to appeal to a client's
"fears, anxieties or emotions concerning the possible results of failure to obtain
[psychotherapy] services." See Complaint  9.C.

* Order I IL.A, provisos 2 & 3. Although I might have addressed these issues
differently in the context of the order as a whole, the provisos appropriately credit
plausible justifications offered by the APA.
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therapy services in advertisements. The majority instead paints with
a broader brush, to the possible detriment of consumers.

As a matter of law, the Commission necessarily substitutes its
judgment on this professional question for that of the APA when it
invalidates the APA's rule. Making that judgment without better
reason than is apparent here suggests a willingness to expand the per
se rule, is unnecessarily intrusive and has serious implications for
future cases, particularly in view of the recognized difficulty of
identifying and articulating plausible efficiency justifications. Overly
broad orders may deter other legitimate conduct. Our zeal to promote
competition should not override our attention to the interests of
consumers. In evaluating the reasonableness of private conduct and
the validity of justifications for that conduct, the Commission should
be cautious about overriding the tenets of professionalism, especially
in the context of a consent order.
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IN THE MATTER OF

OCCIDENTAL PETROLEUM CORPORATION, ET AL.

FINAL ORDER, OPINION, ETC., IN REGARD TO ALLEGED VIOLATION OF
SEC. 7 OF THE CLAYTON ACT AND SEC. 5 OF
THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ACT

Docket 9205. Complaint,” April 11, 1986--Final Order, Dec. 22, 1992

This final order upholds the ruling of the administrative law judge, which requires
Occidental, a California-based corporation, to divest certain Tenneco PVC
plants to a Commission-approved acquirer within one year. The order
prohibits Occidental, for 10 years, from acquiring all or any part of the stock
or assets of, or any interest in, any producer of PVC located in the United
States, without prior Commission approval.

Appearances

For the Commission: Rhett R. Krulla and Marc G. Schildkraut.

For the respondents: Michael Sohn, Arnold & Porter, Washing-
ton, D.C. Louis Nizer Phillips, Nizer, Benjamin Krim & Ballon,
New York, N.Y. and Robert Luss, in-house counsel for respondent
Occidental Chemical Corporation, Dallas, TX.

INITIAL DECISION BY

THOMAS F. HOWDER, ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE
SEPTEMBER 30, 1988

CITATION FORMAT

Hearing testimony presented by affidavit or declaration in this
proceeding is identified by the name of the witness, the exhibit
number and the appropriate page and paragraph reference (e.g.,
Pflugrath CX 177F {10).

Hearing testimony from The B.F. Goodrich Co., FTC Docket
9159, is identified by the name of the witness followed by the

* Complaint previously published at 111 FTC 27 (1988).
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designation "Dkt. 9159" and the Goodrich transcript page number
(e.g., Kaserman Dkt. 9159, 2313).

Hearing testimony from the preliminary injunction proceeding in
FTC v. Occidental Petroleum Corp., Civil No. 86-0900 (D.D.C.
1986), is identified by the name of the witness, the joint exhibit
number (JX 1) and the appropriate page and line reference (e.g.,
Kaserman JX 1, 266 In. 19 - 267 In. 15).

Joint exhibits, comprised of the trial exhibits and transcripts of
testimony from the hearing on the preliminary injunction in FTC v.
Occidental Petroleum Corp., Civil No. 86-0900 (D.D.C. 1986), are
identified by the prefix "JX" and the exhibit number, followed by the
district court transcript page number and line reference for trial
testimony, or by the prefix "PX" or "DX," for plaintiff's exhibit and
defendant's exhibit, respectively, and the district court exhibit number
and page reference as appropriate (e.g., JX 3, PX 129 at 7).

Complaint counsel's and respondents' exhibits are identified by
the prefix "CX" or "RX," respectively, and the exhibit number and
page reference as appropriate (e.g., CX 156F).

References to exhibits in the record in The B.F. Goodrich Co.,
FTC Docket No. 9159, are identified by the prefix "Dkt. 9159"
followed by the exhibit number and appropriate page reference (e.g.,
Dkt. 9159 CX 1737).

References to the numbered findings in Goodrich, as adopted by
the Commission in The B.F. Goodrich Company, Docket No. 9159,
Final Order, March 15, 1988, at 2, are identified as "Goodrich F." and
the finding number. Other references to the Initial Decision, as
adopted by the Commission in Goodrich, are identified as "Goodrich
ID at" followed by the page number of the Initial Decision.

References to complaint counsel's proposed findings are
identified by "CPF" and the finding number.

References to respondents' proposed findings dated December 7,
1987, are identified by "RPF" and the finding number.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Federal Trade Commission issued its administrative
complaint in this case on April 11, 1986, challenging the acquisition
of Tenneco Polymers, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tenneco,
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Inc., by Occidental Chemical Corporation, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Occidental Petroleum Corporation. Respondents filed
their Answers on May 19, 1986, denying that the transaction violated
Section 7 of the Clayton Act and Section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act, as alleged in the complaint.’

Pursuant to agreement of the parties, the record in the instant case
incorporates the record in The B.F. Goodrich Company case, Docket
9159 (decided by the Commission on March 15, 1988), together with
additional documentary exhibits and witness testimony in the form of
affidavits and declarations. The record also contains trial exhibits
and testimony adduced by the parties in the Commission's
unsuccessful attempt to obtain a preliminary injunction in the instant
case.?

This proceeding is before me upon the pleadings, the record as
described above, and the proposed findings of fact and conclusions
of law filed by the parties. The proposed findings, conclusions and
arguments of the parties have been considered, and those findings and
conclusions not adopted either in the form proposed or in substance
are rejected as not supported, or as involving immaterial issues
unnecessary for this decision.

Any motions not heretofore or herein specifically ruled upon,
either directly or by the necessary effect of the conclusions in this
decision, are hereby denied.

FINDINGS OF FACT
1. THE RESPONDENTS

A. Occidental

1. Occidental Petroleum Corporation ("Occidental") is a Califor-
nia corporation with its principal offices in Los Angeles, California
(JX 3,PX 15 at 17; JX 3, PX 16 at 56; JX 3, PX 46).

! The Commission subsequently accepted a consent agreement on the part of
the Tenneco respondents, the Decision and Order dated July 19, 1988.

2 See the description of this attempt set forth in note 3 and pages 2-3 of the
Commission's opinion in the Goodrich case (March 15, 1988).
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2. Occidental Chemical Corporation ("Oxychem") is the Occi-
dental subsidiary responsible for all of Occidental's PVC-related
activities (JX 3, PX 15 at 14). Oxychem is the entity which acquired
Tenneco Polymers, Inc. (JX 3, PX 17 at 904338A).

3. [#] JX3,PX 16at 11-18). [##] (PX 3, PX 140 In Camera;
JX3,PX 16 at 17).

4. [##] (Lull JX'1, 506-508; JX 3, PX 15; Dkt. 159 CX 519M In
Camera).

5. Oxychem is the successor corporation to Diamond Shamrock
Chemicals Company ("DSCC"), a respondent in The B.F. Goodrich
Company, FTC Docket No. 9159. In 1986, DSCC was acquired by
Occidental and merged into Oxychem (CX 1D, N, Z2, Z12; CX
160). -

6. At all times relevant herein, Occidental Petroleum Corpora-
tion and Occidental Chemical Corporation have engaged in
commerce as "commerce” is defined in Section 1 of the Clayton Act,
15 US.C. 12, and Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 44
(Occidental Answer | 2; JX 3, PX 15 at 17; JX 3, PX 16 at 5; RPF 6).

B. Tenneco

7. Tenneco Inc. ("Tenneco"), is a large, integrated oil company
(JX 3,PX 19 at 1-5) [##] JX 3, PX 140 In Camera; See Schaefer JX
1,592 1n. 10-13; JX 3,PX 20 at 11, 15, 17, 19).

8. Tenneco Polymers, Inc. ("Tenneco Polymers"), is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Tenneco Inc. (JX 3, PX 11 at 622 In.
12-14; Cunningham JX 1, 784 In. 2-5).

9. At all times relevant herein, Tenneco Inc., and Tenneco
Polymers, Inc. have engaged in commerce as "commerce" is defined
in Section 1 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. 44 (JX 3, PX 19 at 1,
3-17).

10. Prior to the acquisition, Oxychem and Tenneco Polymers
were direct competitors in the relevant PVC (Schaefer JX 1, 592 In.
10-13; JX 3, PX 8 at 38 In. 6-9; Weimar JX 1, 34 In. 14-20
(copolymer); Mason JX 1, 196 In. 7-13 (dispersion); Beveridge JX 1,
87 In. 25-88 In. 2 (dispersion); Friedman JX 1, 131 In. 1-133 In. 12
(mass and suspension homopolymer)).
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II. THE ACQUISITION

11. Through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Oxychem, Occidental
acquired Tenneco Polymers' 750 million-pound capacity suspension
PVC plant at Pasadena, Texas, and its 150 million-pound capacity
suspension PVC copolymer and dispersion PVC resin plant at
Burlington, New Jersey. In addition, Oxychem acquired all
buildings, machinery, equipment, and intangible assets related to
Tenneco Polymers' PVC operations (Cunningham JX 1, 751 In. 6-21;
See, e.g.,JX 3,PX 97).> The total purchase price was approximately
$70 million, plus approximately $30 million for Tenneco's PVC
inventories (Cunningham JX 1, 805 In. 7-14; JX 3, PX 17 at 8).

III. PVC INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

A. Product Description

12. PVC resins are "thermoplastic" materials, i.e., plastics that
become soft and malleable when heated. In virtually all applications,
PVC resins must be compounded with a variety of additives,
including stabilizers, plasticizers, and coloring agents to give the
resins the desired characteristics required for processing and
fabrication into end products. After compounding with other
ingredients, PVC resins can be converted, through the application of
heat and pressure, into a wide variety of finished "vinyl" products
(The B.F. Goodrich Company, (FTC Docket No. 9159) slip op. at I,
17 (March 21, 1988); Goodrich F 17-18; Kaserman JX 1, 270 In.
10-20, 266 In. 16 - 267 In. 11; Dkt. 9159 CX 427L-M; Dkt. 9159 CX
428M-N).

13. [##] (Dkt. 9159 CX 6D, 6Z37; Dkt. 9159 CX 8B: Dkt. 9159
CX 40Z2 In Camera; Dkt. 9159 CX 109E, In Camera). In 1987,

? In addition to the resin and compounding plants and portions of the
associated land, acquired assets include all buildings, machinery and equipment
related to the manufacturing facilities; inventories; stores; spare equipment; and
intangible assets such as trade secrets, patents, technology agreements, permits,
trade names and customer rights (JX 3, PX 17 at 2-8). [##] (JX 3, PX 97; Taylor
181B § 2 In Camera). [##] (Taylor CXI81B-D In Camera).



OCCIDENTAL PETROLEUM CORPORATION,ETAL. 1015

1010 Initial Decision

United States production of PVC of all types was approximately 8.0
billion pounds (CX 213C).

14. PVC resins are derived from the chemicals ethylene and
chlorine. The chemicals are converted into ethylene dichloride
("EDC"), from which the intermediate chemical product, vinyl
chloride monomer ("VCM".), is manufactured by a thermal-cracking
process (Goodrich, slip op. at 17, 20; Goodrich F 17, 30, 32; Dkt.
9159 CX 4G; Dkt. 9159 CX 6, Z35-Z36).

B. Production Processes

15. All PVC resins are produced by a polymerization process
which links VCM molecules together in a vessel, commonly referred
to as a reactor, under specific temperatures in the presence of
catalysts. The resulting PVC resins, in the form of white powder or
granules, can be compounded with auxiliary ingredients (e.g.,
stabilizers, plasticizers, and impact modifiers), and converted into a
wide variety of vinyl end products through several types of
fabricating and finishing processes. The processing and performance
characteristics of PVC resins and, consequently, suitability for a
particular end-use product, vary according to the resin type and,
within each type, a number of variables that are controlled in the
resin production process (Goodrich F 17-23; JX 3, PX 11 at 627 In.
13-631 In. 11, 656 In. 17 - 658 In. 17; Lull JX 1,504 In. 6-14).

16. There are four basic processes used to manufacture PVC
resin: (1) suspension; (2) mass (or bulk); (3) dispersion (or
emulsion); and (4) solution* (Goodrich F 20-23; JX 3, PX 11 at 627
In. 13 - 631 In. 11; JX 3, PX 8 at 7 In. 18-21; Dkt. 9159 CX 6D,
6237; Dkt. 9159 CX 4271-K).

17. The most common method is the suspension process (Disch
Dkt. 9159, 627-628). VCM is added to a reactor that contains water,
a colloid (a suspending agent), and initiators. The mixture is then
heated, which starts the reaction. The process of polymerization, ie.,

*  The solution polymerization process is utilized at only one fa